# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/27/2022 4:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100969-1

#### COA No. 82511-9-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

KARL KERSTETER, Appellant

VS.

CONCRETE SCHOOL DISTRICT, Respondent

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) - May 27, 2022

Submitted by:

Scott McKay, WSBA No 12746 Attorney for Appellant

Law Offices of Scott McKay 3614 California Ave SW Seattle, WA 98106 (206) 992-5466

####

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This petitioner is the designated appellant below, Karl Kersteter.

#### II. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS REQUESTED

Mr. Kersteter seeks review of the <u>Unpublished Decision</u> that was entered by the Court of Appeals on March 14, 2022. See

Appendix A.<sup>1</sup>

## III. SUMMARY OF WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

#### A. Introduction

This Court has recognized that Washington maintains a long and proud history of being a leader in the protection of employee rights.<sup>2</sup> This case presents another opportunity for this Court to honor that tradition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On April 27, 2022, the Court of Appeals also entered an order denying Mr. Kersteter's motion for reconsideration. A copy of this order is included in Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000).

This petition raises important **issues of first impression** that have never been addressed by any Washington Court concerning the **rights of public employees** under Washington's "misclassification of public employment" statutes, RCW 49.44.160 and RCW 49.44.170. See **Appendix B**.

As shown herein, there are nearly **600,000** workers in Washington who are employed by state and local governments. All of these workers have a direct interest in the outcome of this case.

#### B. Background to Central Issue of this Case

RCW 49.46.160 prohibits public employers from "[m]isclassifying employees, or taking other action to avoid providing or continuing to provide employment-based benefits." Its companion statute, RCW 49.44.170, implements this prohibition by authorizing misclassified employees to sue their employers.

Although the statutes authorize civil suits for violations of the misclassification statutes, they do not indicate what remedies are available. Are monetary damages available? Or is relief solely confined to <u>non-monetary</u> forms of relief such as declaratory judgments or injunctions?

No answers have been provided by the Legislature. The statutes are silent on this topic.

#### C. Central Issue of this Case

Consistent with the foregoing, the central issue presented by this petition is simple and straightforward:

What damages remedies, if any, are available to aggrieved employees under RCW 49.44.170(3)?

The Court of Appeals and Mr. Kersteter have opposing answers to this question.

According to the Court of Appeals, RCW 49.44.170(3) <u>does</u>
<u>not</u> allow aggrieved employees to recover monetary damages.

In contrast, Mr. Kersteter takes the **opposite position** and asserts that the statutes **DO** allow aggrieved employees to recover damages for financial losses that were caused by unlawful misclassification, e.g., losses to pension benefits or wages.

## D. There are <u>600,000</u> Public Employees Whose Rights May be Impacted by the Outcome of this Case

It cannot be disputed that the central issue presented by this case is profoundly important.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, over 17% of the **current** working population in Washington – nearly 600,000 people – are employed by state and local governments.<sup>3</sup>

Obviously, if the rights of *future* public employees are also considered, then the number of workers that could potentially be impacted by the outcome of this case is enormous.

#### E. Summary of Facts of Case

All of the facts that Mr. Kersteter relies upon are fully supported by testimony and/or documentary evidence in the record.

For 11 years the Concrete School District deliberately took advantage of Mr. Kersteter by knowingly paying him a part-time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, <u>Employment in Washington</u>. https://www.bls.gov/eag/eag.wa.htm. See also online article: <u>How Many People Work for the Government in Washington</u>? https://www.thecentersquare.com/washington

<u>salary</u> for working on a <u>full-time basis</u> as its TransportationSupervisor.

Although the District was fully aware that Mr. Kersteter's position was a full-time job, it steadfastly refused to offer him anything other than part-time contracts. When Mr. Kersteter complained about this, the District always responded the same way: it acknowledged his long hours of work, but claimed that it "could not afford" to pay him as a full-time employee.

Mr. Kersteter never believed the District's excuses. Nonetheless, he grudgingly signed the contracts under protest because he needed the work and money. However, he was always resolved to pursue whatever legal remedies were available to him after he retired.

As he had planned, after he retired Mr. Kersteter filed a lawsuit to recover damages for the losses in benefits and wages that he sustained as a result of being misclassified. His <u>Amended Complaint</u> pleaded three causes of action:

- 1. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for misclassification of employment under RCW 49.44.170(3);
- 2. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for unlawful withholding of wages under the Wage Payment Act, RCW 49.48; and
- 3. An <u>equitable cause of action</u> for unjust enrichment as authorized by *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484-85, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008).

#### F. Summary of Why Review Should be Accepted

This petition has been filed because the Court of Appeals has ruled that none of these causes of action have merit, and that all were properly dismissed with prejudice.

As shown herein, there are compelling reasons to conclude that the interpretations adopted by the Court of Appeals were extraordinarily narrow and violated basic rules of statutory construction, including the rule which requires remedial legislation to be liberally construed in favor of employees.

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(B) review for two principal reasons:

- 1. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for misclassification of employment under RCW 49.44.170(3);
- 2. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for unlawful withholding of wages under the Wage Payment Act, RCW 49.48; and
- 3. An <u>equitable cause of action</u> for unjust enrichment as authorized by *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484-85, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008).

#### F. Summary of Why Review Should be Accepted

This petition has been filed because the Court of Appeals has ruled that none of these causes of action have merit, and that all of them were properly dismissed.

As shown herein, there are compelling reasons to conclude that the interpretations adopted by the Court of Appeals were extraordinarily narrow and violated basic rules of statutory construction, including the rule which requires remedial legislation to be liberally construed in favor of employees.

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(B) review for two principal reasons:

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2)) and
- 2. The petition presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### IV. ISSUES FPRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is there an implied remedy of damages under RCW 49.44.170(3)? If so:
  - a) May aggrieved employees recover damages for <u>losses in</u> <u>pension benefits</u> that were caused by unlawful misclassification?
  - b) May aggrieved employees recover damages for <u>losses in</u> <u>wages</u> that were caused by unlawful misclassification?
- 2. Where a dispute arises between parties to a contract, may a claim for equitable relief be brought where the subject matter of the dispute was never mentioned or covered in the contract?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts

1. <u>Duties of the Transportation Supervisor</u>

Karl Kersteter worked on a part-time basis as the Concrete School District's Transportation Supervisor for eleven years. **CP** 

- **123**. His job duty was to be the part-time supervisor of the District's busing and transportation operations. Id.
  - 2. <u>District Policies of Providing Reduced Salaries and Benefits</u> to Part-Time Employees

The District had a policy of providing part-time employees with smaller salaries than it provided to full-time employees. **CP 141-143**. Likewise, the District provided part-time employees with less benefits that it provided to full-time employees. Id.

3. <u>District Policy of Using "FTE Ratios" to Classify Part-Time</u>
<u>Employees</u>

The District assigned a specific "Full Time Equivalency Ratio" ("FTE Ratio") to each part-time employee. **CP 147-148**.

The purpose of FTE ratios was to ensure that part-time employees <u>did not</u> receive the same level of benefits that were provided to full-time employees. **CP 143**.

To illustrate, since full-time employees were expected to work a full schedule of eight hours per day, they were classified as "1.0 FTE" employees and as such were entitled to receive 100% of

all benefits offered by the District. Second Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraphs 7-9 (**CP 143**).

In contrast, a part-time employee who only worked four hours per day would be classified as a ".5 FTE" employee, and would only receive 50% of all benefits offered by the District. Id.

4. <u>State Laws Providing Reduced Pensions to Part-Time</u> Employees

As a public employee, Mr. Kersteter earned retirement benefits under <u>Plan Three</u> ("PERS 3") of the Washington Public Employment Retirement System. **CP 143**.

All else being equal, PERS 3 provides part-time employees with significantly smaller monthly pension payments than are provided to full-time employees. This is due to the formula used by PERS 3 to calculate monthly benefits. **CP 143**.

Under the PERS 3 formula, the amount of an employee's monthly retirement benefit is directly impacted by his/her "average final compensation" over the final 60 months of employment ("AFC"). The formula is:

"1% x service credit years x AFC = monthly benefit."

PERS Plan 3 Official Handbook (CP 150-151).<sup>4</sup>

In accordance with this formula, the greater an employee's salary during the final 60 months of his/her employment, the greater will be his/her monthly pension benefits.

The converse is also true: the smaller the employee's salary during the final 60 months of his/her employment, the smaller will be his/her monthly pension benefits.

5. <u>District's Use of Part-Time Classifications to Avoid Paying</u> Full-Time Salaries and Benefits

The District deliberately classified Mr. Kersteter as a part-time employee so that he would only receive a <u>part-time salary</u>. See Declaration of Barbara Hawkings at Paragraph 3 (CP 179-180).

Likewise, the District also deliberately classified Mr.

Kersteter as a part-time FTE employee so that it **could avoid providing him full-time benefits**.

-10-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The excerpt is authenticated in the Second Certified Statement of Scott McKay at Paragraph 2(a) (CP 185).

These reductions are shown by the part-time contracts that Mr. Kersteter signed:

School Year	Hrs Per Day	FTE Ratio	Part-time Salary	Benefit Entitlements
2010	4	0.500	\$18,808.00	50.00%
2011	4	0.500	\$18,808.00	50.00%
2012	4	0.500	\$19,250.00	50.00%
2013	5	0.625	\$34,542.00	62.50%
2014	5	0.625	\$35,000.00	62.50%
2015	5	0.625	\$35,750.00	62.50%
2016	6	0.710	\$33,537.00	71.00%
2017	6	0.710	\$34,540.00	71.00%

#### **CP 153-168**.

#### 6. Repeated Demands by Mr. Kersteter to be Properly Classified

Although Mr. Kersteter repeatedly demanded to be properly classified as a full-time employee, the District's Superintendent, Barbara Hawkings, would always refuse to do so by saying the same thing: she would acknowledge the truth of his complaints, but would nonetheless reject his demands on the ground that the District "could not afford" to classify him as a full-time employee.

Cert. Statement Karl Kersteter at Paragraphs 7-10 (CP 124-125).

Id.

#### 7. <u>Decision by Kersteter to Delay Legal Action until After</u> Retirement

Although Mr. Kersteter knew he was being treated unfairly, he reluctantly decided to sign the part-time contracts under protest and to not take legal action until after he retired. Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraphs 12-14 (CP 126).

In part, this decision was based upon the fact that Mr.

Kersteter needed the work and money. Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at

Paragraphs 12-14 (CP 126). However, he was also concerned that

by pursuing legal action while he was still employed, the District

might become angry and take retaliatory action. Id. He therefore

decided not to take any action until after he retired. Id. With this

plan in mind, he was always careful not to sign any documents or

do anything that might be construed as a waiver of this rights. Id at

Paragraph 15 (CP 126-127).

## 8. Objective Evidence That the District Knew the Position was Misclassified

In October, 2017, Mr. Kersteter notified the District that he would retire in the middle of the 2017-2018 school year, with his last day of work being December 31, 2017. Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraph 16 (**CP 127**).

Shortly after Mr. Kersteter served his notice, the District publically advertised the Transportation Supervisor position as a "full-time" position. Cert. Stmt. Kathy Lafreniere at Paragraph 2 & Exhibit A thereto (CP 131, 135).

A few weeks later, the District formally hired a new
Transportation Supervisor, Kathy Lafreniere. Id at Paragraphs 3-4
(CP 131-132). Unlike Mr. Kersteter, Ms. Lafreniere was hired on
a full-time basis. CP 170-173. All this occurred while Mr.
Kersteter was still working for the District.<sup>5</sup>

-13-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The District advertised the position in November, 2017, and formally hired Ms. Lafreniere in early December, 2017. Cert. Smt. Kathy Lafreniere, Paragraphs 2, 4 (**CP 131**). Mr. Kersteter did not retire until December 31, 2017. Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraph 16 (**CP 127**).

As a full-time employee, Ms. Lafreniere was paid at a salary rate that was far in excess of what Mr. Kersteter had ever been paid.

To illustrate, the highest salary amount that had ever been paid to Mr. Kersteter was \$34,500 per year. Second Cert. Stmt.

Karl Kersteter at Paragraph 5 (CP 142). In contrast, Ms. Lafreniere was hired at the much higher annual salary rate of \$54,000 per year. See Lafreniere Contract, CP 172-173.6

Ms. Lafreniere's sworn testimony leaves no doubt that the Transportation Supervisor position was a full-time position, not a part-time position. As she has testified:

[W]orking between 42 and 45 hours per week was not unusual or unexpected for me, but instead, was "part and parcel" of my job as the District's Transportation Supervisor. It is my opinion that it would be impossible for me, or any other person, to fulfill the duties of that position on a part-time basis, as it clearly was a full-time job.

Cert. Statement Kathy Lafreniere at Paragraphs 10-11 (CP 133).

-14-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As shown by her initial contract (**CP 170**), Ms. Lafreniere's was hired to take over as the District's full-time Transportation Supervisor in December, 2017, which was in the middle of the 12 month benefit year. Since only 50% (six months) of the benefit year remained when she was hired, her initial full-time contract (and the FTE specified therein) was adjusted to reflect this fact. For more details, see Footnote 1, Second Certified Statement of Karl Kersteter (**CP 142**).

The District's awareness that the Transportation Supervisor positon was a full-time position is also shown by the actions taken by the District after Ms. Lafreniere resigned to take a higher paying job with the Meridian School District.

After Ms. Lafreniere resigned, the District filled the positon by having <u>two</u> existing full-time employees take over and "share" the job by becoming "Co-Transportation Supervisors." See Contracts **CP 174-177**.

Together, these supervisors were jointly responsible for supervising all of the District's transportation operations. See Contracts **CP 174-177**. As was true for Ms. Lafreniere, they were also provided with much higher salaries than had ever been paid to Mr. Kersteter. Thus, one of these "co-supervisors" (Paul Carter) was paid at the rate of \$68,000 per year. **CP 174**. The other "co-supervisor" (Marla Reed) was paid at the rate of \$51,000 per year. **CP 176**.

## 9. <u>Actual Injuries Sustained by Mr. Kersteter Due to</u> Misclassification

As a result of being misclassified as a part-time employee rather than a full-time employee, Mr. Kersteter sustained financial losses in two main areas:

- Reduced Salary Payments. As a result of being misclassified as a part-time employee, Mr. Kersteter sustained losses in salary wages of approximately \$25,500 per year. Second Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraph 5 (CP 142).
- Reduced Monthly Pension Payments. As a result of being misclassified as a part-time employee, Mr. Kersteter also sustained losses to his monthly pension benefits at the rate of \$200 per month. Second Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at 14 (CP 144-145).

#### **B.** Causes of Action Filed by Kersteter

As he had planned, Mr. Kersteter began pursuing a claim against the District after he retired. Cert. Stmt. Karl Kersteter at Paragraph 17 (**CP 127**).

Mr. Kersteter's <u>Amended Complaint</u> (**CP 13-21**) is attached hereto as **Appendix C**. A will be noted, Mr. Kersteter filed three causes of actions:

- 1. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for misclassification of employment under RCW 49.44.170(3). See **Appendix C** at paragraphs 1.1(b) and 4.5;
- 2. A <u>statutory cause of action</u> for unlawful withholding of wages under the Wage Payment Act, RCW 49.48. See **Appendix** C at paragraphs 1.1(c) and 4.6; and
- 3. An *equitable cause of action* for unjust enrichment as authorized by *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484-85, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008). See **Appendix C** at paragraphs 1.1(a) and 4.2.

#### C. Dismissal of All Claims by Superior Court

The Superior Court dismissed all claims that had been brought by Mr. Kersteter. Specifically:

• <u>Statutory Claims</u>: The Court dismissed all of Mr. Kersteter's statutory claims on the ground that the damages he sought -- i.e., unpaid salary and pension payments -- were "not within the scope" of RCW 49.44.170. **CP 254-256.** 

• Equitable Claim for Unjust Enrichment: The Court dismissed Mr. Kersteter's claim for unjust enrichment on the ground that the "subject matter" of the claim – i.e., his uncompensated hours of full-time work – was "covered" and "governed" by the terms of his <u>part-time</u> contracts he had signed with the District. **CP 69-70**.

#### D. Affirmation of Dismissal by Court of Appeals

On March 14, 2022 the Court of Appeals entered an order which affirmed all of the Superior Court's rulings. See **Appendix** A.

#### E. Special Note Regarding Two Aspects of the Decision

1. <u>Clearly Erroneous Finding that Mr. Kersteter had</u> "Abandoned" His Wage Claims

At page 9 of the decision the Court of Appeals made a factual finding that was clearly erroneous, namely, that when Mr. Kersteter filed his <u>Amended Complaint</u>, he had removed and "abandoned" his wage claims.

This assertion is highly puzzling it clearly was wrong and squarely contradicted by the record.

In point of fact, the <u>Amended Complaint</u> specifically pleaded and preserved wage claims under <u>both</u> RCW 49.44.170 and RCW 49.48.010. See **Appendix C** at paragraphs 1.1, 4.5, 4.6.

Equally puzzling is the fact the Court was fully aware that Mr. Kersteter had vigorously pursued his wage claims at all stages of the proceedings before both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals (including during oral argument before the Court of Appeals),

Indeed, the Court's awareness of this fact is verified by its own written decision. As will be noted, the decision is almost exclusively devoted to discussing – and rejecting – the merits of Mr. Kersteter's arguments concerning lost wages. See **Appendix**A. Given these facts, it is not understood how the Court could have concluded that Mr. Kersteter had abandoned his wage claims.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Mr. Kersteter **does not** assert a right to overtime pay under the MWA. His claim for attorney fees under the WPA exists by and through his statutory claim for lost wages under RCW 49.44.170(3).

#### 2. Puzzling Rulings Concerning the MWA and WPA

Another puzzling aspect of the decision is the Court's apparent ruling that in order to maintain a claim for misclassification of employment under RCW 49.44.170(3), aggrieved employees must <u>also</u> file claims under the Minimum Wage Act (RCW 49.46) and the Wage Payment Act (RCW 49.48). See **Appendix A** at page 9.

This ruling is puzzling because neither the MWA nor the WPA are concerned with the topic of misclassification of employment.<sup>8</sup> Given this fact, it is difficult to understand why the Court of Appeals would impose this requirement.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The MWA is solely concerned with enforcing standards **regarding minim rates of pay and overtime pay**. See RCW 49.46.010 et. seq. The WPA is solely concerned with regulating the **types of wage deductions** that can be made at the termination of employment. See RCW 40/48.010 et. seq.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

## A. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS

RAP 13.4(b) states that review may be granted where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court,<sup>9</sup> or a decision conflicts with a published decision by the Court of Appeals.<sup>10</sup>

## 1. Review Should be Granted Because the Decision Fails to Implement and Give Effect to Legislative Intent

It is fundamental that Courts must implement and give effect to the intent of the legislature. This is bedrock principle of appellate jurisprudence that the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have always followed. See generally: *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *State v. Marjama*, 14 Wn.App. 2d 803, 806, 473 P.3d 1246 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RAP 13.4(b)(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> RAP 13.4(b)(2)

a) The Purpose of the Misclassification Statutes is to Protect Employees from Arbitrary and Unfair Job Classifications

The purpose of RCW 4.44.160 and RCW 49.44.170 is to protect public employees such as Mr. Kersteter against arbitrary and unfair job classifications by employers.

The statutes achieve this purpose by requiring that all job classifications must be **objectively based upon the actual facts of employment.** 

As stated in RCW 49.44.170:

... Public employers may determine eligibility rules for their own benefit plans ... so long as the definitions and eligibility rules are objective and applied on a consistent basis. Objective standards, such as control over the work and the length of the employment relationship, should determine whether a person is an employee who is entitled to employee benefits, rather than the arbitrary application of labels . . .

(Italics and bolding added). Likewise, RCW 49.44.170(2)(d) states:

Misclassify" and "misclassification" means to *incorrectly classify or label* a long-term public employee as "temporary," "leased," "contract," "seasonal," "intermittent," or "part-time," or to use a

## similar label that does not objectively describe the employee's actual work circumstances.

(Italics added and bolding added).

b) The Injuries Sustained by Mr. Kersteter are the Types of Injuries the Statutes were Designed to Prevent

The facts presented by this case are **exactly** the type of facts that RCW 44.160 and RCW 49.44.170 were designed to address.

As shown by the record:

- 1. Mr. Kersteter was a "long term public employee";11
- 2. His work was "incorrectly classified" or "labeled" in a way that did "not objectively describe actual work circumstances";12
- 3. The purpose of the classification or label was to "avoid providing or continuing to provide employment-based benefits"; <sup>13</sup>and
- 4. As a result of being misclassified, he sustained significant losses to his "*employment-based benefits*," including losses to his <u>monthly pension payments</u> and <u>wages</u>.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See discussion (and citations to the record therein), infra, pp. 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Id at pp. 12-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Id at pp. 10-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Id at pp. 16.

c) The Interpretations Adopted by the Court of Appeals Defeat Rather than Implement the Legislative Intent

Rather than carry out and effectuate the legislative intent behind RCW 49.44.160 and RCW 49.44.170, the Court of Appeals adopted **extraordinarily narrow and strict interpretations** of the statutes which frustrate and defeat the legislative intent.

This conclusion is illustrated by the Court's conclusion that monetary damage claims are not "within the scope" of Washington's misclassification statutes.

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