FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/23/2022 1:41 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100969-1 Court of Appeals No. 82511-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Karl Kersteter,

Appellant,

V.

Concrete School District,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, PS H. Andrew Saller, Jr., WSBA # 12945 Attorneys for Respondent

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, PS

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 1900 P. O. Box 1315 Tacoma, WA 98401-1315 Telephone: (253) 383-3791

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

IV. ARGUMENT FOR DENYING REVIEW

A. The "Central Issue" of the Petition for Review is an Issue that was not Addressed by the Court of Appeals Because it was Moot.

Kersteter identifies the central issue of his Petition as, "What damages remedies, if any, are available to aggrieved employees under RCW 49.44.170(3)?" Pet. for Rev., p. 3 His first issue presented for review is, "Is there an implied remedy of damages under RCW 49.44.170(3)?" Pet. For Rev., p. 7. He argues that the statute failed to provide a remedy so "it was incumbent upon the Court of Appeals to fashion a remedy under the 'applied remedies doctrine'". Pet. for Rev., p. 28 This argument fails because the Court of Appeals and the Trial Court, never addressed the issue of damages or other remedies under RCW 49.44.170. Instead, they held dismissal of Kersteter's

wage claim was appropriate because wages are not within the scope of benefits covered by that statute. After the court granted Concrete's motion for summary judgment dismissal, plaintiff's motions regarding damages and other remedies were moot. The "central issue" of Kersteter's Petition is not before this Court.

Kersteter also argues that his job was misclassified as parttime. Again, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals reached Kersteter's motion regarding misclassification because it was rendered moot by the dismissal of his statutory claim.

Additionally, Kersteter asserts that the Court of Appeals apparently ruled that to bring a claim under RCW 49.44.170(3), an employee must also bring claims under the Minimum Wage Act (RCW 49.46) and the Wage Payment Act (RCW 49.48). Pet. for Rev., p. 20 While Kersteter cites page 9 of the Court of Appeals Opinion, there is no such requirement stated anywhere in the Opinion. On page 9, the Court merely, incorrectly, stated "Kersteter abandoned all the wage claims under Chapters 49.46 and 49.48 RCW when he filed his amended complaint."

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Correct and Consistent with the Decisions of this Court and Other Courts of Appeal on Applying the Intent of the Legislature.

Kersteter argues that courts must implement and give effect to the intent of the legislature. He does not, however, establish that the Court of Appeals failed to do so in this case. Additionally, Kersteter ignores the fact the Court of Appeals' statutory interpretation is completely consistent with the cases he relies upon.

In *Dep't. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.* 146 Wn.2d 1, 43 P.3d 4 (2002), the issue before this Court was the scope of a statutory exemption to restrictions on the withdrawal and use of public groundwaters. This court first stated, at 9:

The meaning of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Breazeale*, 144 Wn.2d 829, 837, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001); *State v. J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d 472, 480, 28 P.3d 720 (2001). The court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d at 480.

This Court then said, as cited by Kersteter, "The Court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent, ..." But Kersteter left out the rest of that sentence, "and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d at 480. *Dep't. of Ecology*, at 10-11.

The *Dept. of Ecology* Court clarified the plain meaning rule by explaining at 11-12:

... the plain meaning is still derived from what the Legislature has said in its enactments, but that meaning is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question. ... Of course, if, after this inquiry, the statute remains susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, the statute is ambiguous and it is appropriate to resort to aids to construction, including legislative history. *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 808, 16 P.3d 583 (2001); *Timberline Air Serv.*, *Inc. v. Bell Helicopter-Textron, Inc.*, 125 Wn.2d 305, 312, 884 P.2d 920 (1994).

Although not mentioned by Kersteter, the Court of Appeals here applied the same analysis.

We review questions of statutory interpretation de novo. Associated Press v. Wash. State Legislature, 194 Wn.2d 915, 920, 454 P.3d 93 (2019). Under the rules of statutory interpretation, we must ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. Id. If the statute's meaning is plain on its face, the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of the legislature's intent. Id. If the statute is ambiguous, or susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, it is appropriate to review the legislative history to glean intent. Id.

Kersteter Opinion, p. 6

With that framework for statutory analysis, the Court of Appeals noted that RCW 49.44.170 does not define either benefit or wages so the Court turned to dictionary definitions which "suggest that 'wages' can be read to include benefits, but 'benefit' is not read to include wages." Kersteter Opinion, p. 7

In addition to dictionary definitions, the Court of Appeals looked at other statutes, specifically RCW 49.46.010(7) which, defines wages as meaning compensation due to an employee by reason of employment. The Court also noted that the same definition is applied in RCW 49.48.082(10) and the plain language does not include benefits as part of wages. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals concluded that RCW 49.44.170 is not ambiguous. "The plain meaning of employment-based benefits does not include wages." Kersteter Opinion, p. 8

The Court went further in its analysis, stating that even if it assumed the definition of employment-based benefits was ambiguous, it would turn to the legislative history and reach the same result. The Court noted that the bill reports confirm the legislative concern about benefits rather than wages. In the final bill report, the background section states:

Public employers sometimes provide a low level of health insurance coverage, retirement plan coverage, sick or annual leave, or other employment-based benefits to persons who are employed in a part-time, temporary, leased, contract or other contingent basis.

As noted by the Court, "Wages are not included in this list." Kersteter Opinion, p. 8

Kersteter has not cited cases from any Washington appellate court holding that wages are employment-based benefits under RCW 49.44.170. He speculates:

It is respectfully (sic) that it is likely that other panels of the Court of Appeals would have rejected this interpretation. Indeed, it is quite likely that other panels of judges – and possibly this Court – would have reached the **opposite** conclusion and found that Mr. Kersteter's claims fall squarely within the legislative purposes of the misclassification statutes.

Pet. for Rev., p. 24 This argument is made without foundation and should be rejected. More importantly, Kersteter's argument does not meet the requirement of RAP 13.4(b) of showing an inconsistency with existing decisions of this Court or of another court of appeals. Accordingly, Kersteter has not established a basis for accepting review.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision is not Inconsistent with cases Kersteter Relies upon that a Remedial Statute must be Liberally Construed to Achieve its Purpose.

Kersteter argues that the Court of Appeals "decision conflicts with the longstanding rule that remedial statutes must be liberally construed to achieve the broadest possible coverage." Pet. for Rev., p. 25 However, he cites no case holding that there is such a broad requirement.

RCW 49.44.160 states that this act shall be liberally construed "for the accomplishment of its purposes." Similarly, the cases cited by Kersteter do not impose a broad obligation for courts to construe all remedial statutes in favor of employees.

In *Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.* 136 Wn.2d 152; 961 P.2d 371 (1998), the court addressed the application of RCW 49.52.050 that holds an employer liable for double damages and attorney's fees for the wrongful withholding of wages. This Court said, at 159:

[T]he fundamental purpose of the legislation, as expressed in both the title and body of the act, is to protect the *wages* of an employee against any diminution or deduction therefrom by rebating, underpayment, or false showing of overpayment of any part of such wages.

Addressing that specific statute, the Court said:

The statute must be liberally construed to advance the Legislature's intent to protect employee wages and assure payment. See <u>Brandt v. Impero</u>, 1 Wn. App. [678] at 682 [463 P.2d 197 (1969)].

In support of his argument that RCW 49.44.170 should be construed to include wages as employment-based benefits, Kersteter refers to dictionary definitions, other statutes and case law. However, none of the definitions in the dictionaries, cases or statutes he relies upon involve compensation paid by an employer to an employee. For example, in *Chem. Bank v. Wash.*

Public Power Supply Sys., 102 Wn.2d 874; 691 P.2d 524 (1984), cited by Kersteter, (Pet. for Rev., Appendix D) the reference to benefit was in the section addressing unjust enrichment. Chem. Bank, at 910. The definition of "benefits" that Kersteter cited as being from the Restatement is a reference to the Restatement of Restitution §1 (1937). Chem. Bank, at 910. It has no application to employment-based benefits under RCW 49.44.170.

D. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed Dismissal of Kersteter's Unjust Enrichment Claim.

The Court of Appeals held that because Kersteter and Concrete had an express contract, no unjust enrichment claim applies. Kersteter Opinion, p. 9 It noted that under the holding of *Young v Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008), "Unjust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained absent any contractual relationship because the notions of fairness and justice require it." Kersteter Opinion, p. 10 The Court of Appeals did not, as Kersteter claims, hold that "... the mere presence of a contract will, by itself, automatically bar any and all equitable suits between the parties." Pet. for Rev., p. 30

The Court of Appeals opinion affirming dismissal of Kersteter's unjust enrichment claim is consistent with *McDonald*

v. Hayner, 43 Wn. App. 81, 715 P.2d 519 (1986). That case held no unjust enrichment existed because:

A party to a valid express contract is bound by the provisions of that contract, and may not disregard the same and bring an action on an implied contract relating to the same matter, in contravention of the express contract.

McDonald, at 85-86 (quoting Chandler v. Wash. Toll Bridge Auth., 17 Wn.2d 591, 604, 137 P.2d 97 (1943).

The Court of Appeals correctly stated, "like in *McDonald*, Kersteter had an express contract with Concrete, and cannot raise an unjust enrichment claim." Kersteter Opinion, pp. 10-11

Kersteter's petition fails to acknowledge these cases that are directly on point. Further, the cases he relies on for broad statements regarding other equitable remedies have no application here. *Crafts. v. Pitts*, 161 Wn. 2d 16, 23, 162 P.3d 382 (2007) addressed the issue of whether the equitable remedy of specific performance is discharged in bankruptcy. *Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Grp. PLLC*, 199 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 330 held that where foreclosure on collateral is not an adequate remedy, an equitable claim of successor liability is allowed. The Court of Appeals decision is correct and consistent with the controlling authority of *Young v. Young* and *McDonald v. Hayner* as well as the cases cited therein.

E. Kersteter has not Established that the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The only basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Kersteter musters is that there are many public employees in Washington. If that were a sufficient basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), then every court of appeals decision adverse to a public employee would be subject to review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Kersteter's claim for more wages under RCW 49.44.170 and under the equitable doctrine of unjust enrichment is correct. The decision is not inconsistent with decisions of this Court or other courts of appeal. The Petition for Review does not involve issues of substantial public interest. Accordingly, Concrete respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition for Review.